D.A. 4-8-92

### INTRODUCTION

The parties will be referred to in the position they occupy in this Court and in their proper name. Petitioners, Diversified Services, Inc., a foreign corporation d/b/a Budget Rent-A-Car of Miami, Inc., a Florida corporation, and Palm Beach Dodge, Inc., a Florida corporation ("Budget"), were the appellees in the Third District and the defendants in the trial court; respondent, Alida Avila, as personal representative of the Estate of Eulogio Avila, Deceased, was the appellant in the Third District and the plaintiff in the trial court. Reference to the record-on-appeal filed in this Court will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. Reference to Budget's appendix will be by the use of the symbol "BA" followed by the appropriate page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Eulogio Avila entered into an automobile rental agreement with Budget on May 25, 1984. (R. **31-32; BA. 5-6**). While driving the rental car, Avila **was** fatally injured when his rental vehicle collided with an underinsured automobile. (R. 173-74; BA. 1-2).

Alida Avila, wife of the deceased and personal representative of his estate, brought an action against Budget. (R. 174; BA. 2). In her second amended complaint, Ms. Avila alleged that Budget, in leasing the vehicle to the decedent sold him an insurance policy for liability insurance and personal injury protection without offering underinsured motorist benefits equal to the liability insurance limits or obtaining a written rejection of said underinsured motorist benefits contrary to Section 627.727(1), Fla.Stat, (1983). (R. 108).

It was alleged also that Edward Childress negligently operated a motor vehicle *so* that it collided with the leased motor vehicle being operated by Eulogio Avila. (R. 107). Next, it was alleged that the motor vehicle operated by Childress was owned by Lillie Collier, and that the damages sustained by the wrongful death of Eulogio Avila far exceeded the policy limits of the defendants, Childress and Collier. (R. 107-08).

In answer to plaintiff's second amended complaint, Budget filed **a** general denial. (R. 121). Budget stated also that there is no requirement under the financial responsibility law to provide any other coverage except proof of ability to respond in damages for liability on account of an accident arising out of the use of  $\mathbf{a}$  motor vehicle in certain minimum amounts. <u>Id</u>.

For further answer Budget stated that the rental agreement did not provide uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage to the decedent. <u>Id</u>, Further, Budget alleged that as "a named insured" in a comprehensive general liability policy for bodily injury liability and for property damage, it had rejected uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage. (R. 121-22). 1

Paragraphs numbered 7 and 7(a) of the Budget rental agreement provided in part:

The insurance coverage referred to in this paragraph 7 does not apply:

(a) To damages caused to any person, including Renter and driver by an uninsured motorist or uninsured motor vehicle . .

\* \* \* \* \*

This paragraph 7 constitutes the entire agreement between BUDGET and the Renter and driver regarding the terms and conditions of the insurance provided by BUDGET to the

<sup>1.</sup> St, Paul Fire & Marine Casualty Ins. Co. ("St. Paul"), issued an excess automobile liability insurance policy which covered Budget for each occurrence in the amount of \$900,000, above the underlying limits of \$100,000. (R. 129, 135-36, 139-47, 156). Prior to Avila's appeal to review the summary final judgment, St. Paul was dismissed from this case by the trial court based upon the exclusion in the St. Paul policy stating that no insurance is afforded for uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage. (R. 51A). An appeal was taken by the respondent to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, and the said final judgment of dismissal of St. Paul was affirmed without opinion. Avila v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins\_Co', 522 So.2d 397 (F1a, 3d DCA 1988).

Renter and driver and no alteration thereof shall be valid unless agreed to by BUDGET in writing

(R. 32, 136, 157; BA. 7). 2

Also under paragraph numbered 7 of the rental agreement Budget provided personal injury protection benefits with the maximum deductible allowed by law (should personal injury protection benefits be required under the laws of the state wherein the vehicle was rented), and the renter agreed *to* accept said coverage. (R. 32, 128; BA. 7). In addition, under paragraph numbered 7, Budget agreed to provide to the renter and driver liability insurance coverage with limits of liability equal to the minimum limits required by the financial responsibility laws of the state in which the vehicle is rented. (R. 32, 128; BA. 7).

Another provision under paragraph numbered 7 stated that the liability coverage described "may be afforded, subject to the same terms, conditions, restrictions, and limitations herein described under **a** bond or self-insurance arrangement in

<sup>2.</sup> The Budget rental agreement at pages 31-32 of the record and the Budget rental agreement in the appendix are the same as the Budget rental agreement that was attached to the motion for summary judgment in the trial court and considered by the appellate court. The rental agreement that was attached to the motion for summary judgment was inadvertently misplaced. The Budget rental agreement referred to above was also utilized by the respondent in her appendix to her initial brief in the Third District. In an abundance of caution, petitioner will file a motion for the court to allow the Budget rental agreement set forth at pages 31-32 of the record and in Budget's appendix to be used as the Budget rental agreement referred to in the motion for summary judgment.

lieu of, or in combination with, an automobile liability insurance policy. (R. 32, 128; BA. 7).

Budget had received  $\mathbf{a}$  self-insurer certificate effective October 11, 1983, from the State of Florida. (R. 137).

Budget was a self-insurer up to \$100,000. (R. 129, 135, 137, 156). As a self-insurer, Budget had rejected uninsured motorist coverage by advising the Chief of the Bureau of Financial Responsibility, Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles that Budget was rejecting uninsured motorist coverage. (R. 129, 138, 157).

**Also**, Budget as an insured under an excess policy, had rejected uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage as appears in the uninsured/underinsured motorist exclusion endorsement in the St. Paul policy. (R. 129-30, 136, 145).

Subsequently, Budget filed its motion for summary judgment with an accompanying affidavit and exhibits. (R. 127-147). After argument on the motion for summary judgment, the trial court granted the motion and entered a summary final judgment. (R. 171-72). Ms. Avila sought review of the summary final judgment in the Third District.

In the opinion, the Third District stated that the issues raised by the appellant are whether the lessor, a selfinsurer who sold insurance coverage to the deceased, was required to offer uninsured motorist coverage up to the limits of liability coverage pursuant to Section 627.727(1), Florida

- 5 -

Statutes, and whether the contract drafted by the lessor for the rental and insurance coverage was ambiguous on the coverage issue, thus precluding a summary judgment without consideration of parole evidence. (R. 174; BA. 2).

Concerning the alleged ambiguity in the rental agreement, the Third District stated that the face of the rental agreement reflected that the deceased paid a premium for "Damage Waiver" insurance and for "Personal Accident Insurance" in the amount of \$150,000 as described in a separate certificate of insurance which is "available on request." <u>Id</u>. Then, the Court added:

> Although a provision on the reverse side of the agreement declares that the insurance described on the front does not include uninsured motorist coverage, and that it is the entire agreement between the parties, that language is qualified by another provision which nullifies its conclusive effect where an alteration is agreed to by Budget in writing, or the paragraph or portions of the paragraph are unlawful or in conflict with public policy.

(R. 174-75; BA. 2-3).

The Court went on to state that there was a material issue of fact whether the lessee purchased, or had good reason to believe that he was purchasing a policy that would provide benefits in the event of **a** collision with an uninsured vehicle. (R. 175; BA. **3**).

Budget adverts now to Avila's issue as to whether Budget, **as a** self-insurer, was held to all the obligations of

- 6 -

an insurer including a statutory duty to offer uninsured
motorist coverage as part of the sale of liability insurance.
(R. 174-75; BA. 2-3).

Regarding the question of whether a self-insurer has the duty to offer uninsured motorist coverage, the Third District found that a legal issue, not specifically addressed by the trial court, was whether the lessor, as a self-insurer up to the first \$100,000, was insulated from a duty to provide uninsured motorist coverage through its lessee by virtue of a rejection of such coverage with its excess carrier. (R. 175-76; BA. 3-4). Thus, the Third District held there is a statutory duty on the part of Budget, a self-insurer to provide uninsured motorist coverage unless insulated from such duty by a rejection of uninsured motorist coverage with its excess carrier. (R. 175-76; BA. 3-4).

Additionally, the Third District considered the rental agreement to be an insurance policy by referring to the agreement as a "policy" several times. (R. 174-75; BA. 2-3).

Following the Third District's reversal, a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed by petitioner, and the Court accepted jurisdiction.

- 7 -

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

Although the Florida District Courts of **Appeal** have repeatedly held that a car rental agency that is a self-insurer may reject uninsured motorist coverage without notification to the renter of the automobile, those cases, however, do not **expressly** consider the issue of whether the uninsured motorist statute is applicable to a self-insurer.

The uninsured motorist statute provides in pertinent part that no motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this State unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided.

Several jurisdictions that have considered the issue of whether or not their uninsured motorist statutes (with similar language to the Florida statute) are applicable to a selfinsurer have held that self-insurers are issued certificates of self-insurance and, therefore, are not subject to the uninsured motorist statute in that **a** certificate of insurance is not **a** policy of insurance.

In Florida an automobile rental agency that is selfinsured and rents motor vehicles on a daily basis does not fall within the purview of Section 627.727(1), Fla.Stat. (1983), requiring a motor vehicle liability insurance policy to provide uninsured motor vehicle coverage, since a certificate of selfinsurance does not constitute a policy of insurance.

- 7A -

In the event that the uninsured motorist statute applies, Budget, as a self-insurer rejected uninsured motorist coverage with the State Bureau of Financial Responsibility, Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.

In addition, Budget rejected uninsured motorist coverage with its third party excess liability policy.

Significantly, Budget's rental agreement executed by the decedent expressly provided **the** insurance coverage **does** not **apply** to damages caused *to* any person, including renter and driver by an uninsured motorist or uninsured motor vehicle.

In addition to **all of** the foregoing, the Budget insurance director executed an affidavit with exhibits that Budget is a self-insurer, has rejected uninsured motorist coverage as a self-insurer and has rejected uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage with its excess third party liability carrier.

Further, there are several cases where an automobile rental company, which is a self-insurer, unbeknownst to the renter qualified **as** a self-insurer and filed a notice of rejection of uninsured motorist coverage with the State. The appellate courts have unanimously held **that** the rental agency is not required to give notice to the lessee that the company was *a* self-insurer and did not provide uninsured motorist coverage.

Here, Budget's position is stronger since it gave express notice to the decedent that there was no uninsured motorist coverage.

II

If Budget has to provide uninsured motorist coverage, the rejection provision of the statute would be repealed by judicial fiat.

## III

As to the rental agreement being ambiguous on the issue of whether or not uninsured motorist coverage was being offered *to* the renter, the Third District pointed out that **a** premium was paid by the deceased in the rental agreement for "damage waiver" insurance and for "personal accident insurance" with **a** \$150,000 benefit which insurance provisions appeared on the face of the rental agreement.

The Third District admitted that a provision in the rental agreement on the reverse side declared that the insurance described on the front of the agreement does not include uninsured motorist coverage, Notwithstanding, the Third District found the provisions, which unambiguously excluded uninsured motorist coverage, were in turn qualified by language in another provision which nullified the conclusive effect of the provisions excluding uninsured motorist coverage, by providing Budget could alter the agreement in writing, or the paragraph or portions of the paragraph proscribing uninsured motorist coverage might be unlawful or in conflict with public policy.

As to the provision dealing with the alteration of the rental agreement, no alteration or modification was alleged and

- 7c

proved either orally or in writing. Respondent offered no affidavits or other evidence in proof of modification.

Based on the reasons stated herein, and upon the reasons and authorities to be stated under the points, <u>infra</u>, the decision of the Third District should be quashed.

#### Argument

#### POINT I

## WHETHER BUDGET, A SELF-INSURER, IS SUBJECT TO THE UNINSURED MOTORIST STATUTE AND REQUIRED TO OFFER UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TO ITS RENTERS.

In several Florida *cases*, the appellate courts have held that a self-insurer, such **as** a car rental agency that unilaterally rejects uninsured motorist coverage effectively waived such coverage against the renter who suffered injuries in an accident with an uninsured motorist while occupying a vehicle rented from the self-insurer. <u>Guardado v. Greyhound Rent-A-Car</u>, **Inr. 340** So,2d 510 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976); <u>Morpurgo v. Greyhound</u> <u>Rent-A-Car, Inc.</u>, **339** So,2d 718 (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1976).

It appears in <u>Morpurgo</u> and <u>Guardado</u> that the courts, as well as the parties, proceeded on the assumption that the uninsured motorist statute was applicable to a self-insurer.

Even the Third District in the instant case, as noted in the statement of the case and facts, made a reference to **a** self-insurer's "duty to provide uninsured motorist coverage to its lessee" and made several references to the rental agreement **as** "the policy." (R. 174-76; **BA**. 2-4). Thus, the Third District, in effect, assumed that a self-insurer has the duty to provide uninsured motorist to its lessee without expressly considering the applicability of the uninsured motorist statute to a self-insurer.

- 8 -

Mr. Avila, the decedent, signed Budget's rental agreement on May 25, 1984, for a one-day rental. (R. 31-32; BA. 5-6).

Section 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (1983), provided in pertinent part:

> No motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, or disease, death, sickness, including resulting therefrom. However, the coverage required under this section shall not be applicable when, or to the extent that, any insured named in the policy shall reject the coverage in writing. When a motor vehicle is leased for a period of 1 year or longer and the lessor of such vehicle, by the terms of the lease contract, provides liability coverage on the leased vehicle in a policy wherein the lessee is a named insured or on a certificate of a master policy issued to the lessor, the lessee of such vehicle shall have the sole privilege to reject uninsured motorist coverage.

The clear, unequivocal language of the uninsured motorist statute reads that no motor liability insurance <u>policy</u> shall be delivered or issued in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided. It is interesting *to* note that Ch. 82-243, 6544, Laws of Florida, containing the initial words "[n]o motor vehicle liability insurance" was amended in the same year by the Legislature in Ch. 82-386, §66, Laws of Florida, to read "[n]o motor vehicle liability insurance policy."

Several sister jurisdictions in construing the applicability of their respective uninsured motorist statutes to a self-insurer focused primarily on the fact that the uninsured motorist statute spoke in terms of "policy of insurance" while no "policy" existed in the case of a self-insurer. Since the self-insurers were issued certificates of self-insurance by the state, the self-insurer was not subject to the uninsured motorist statute, since the certificate was not a policy of Robinson v. Hertz Corp., 489 N.B.2d 332, 333 (I11, insurance. 1986); Mountain States Tel. **&** Tel, Co. ν. Aetna 3d Dist. Casualty & Surety Co., 116 Ariz. 225, 568 P.2d 1123 (App. 1977); O'Sullivan v. Salvation Army, 85 Cal.App.3d 58, 147 Cal.Rptr. 729 (2nd Dist. 1978); Shelton v. American Re-Insurance Company, 210 Va. 655, 173 S.E.2d 820, 822-23 (1970).

Turning to the statutory language permitting the lessee of a vehicle leased for a period of one year or longer to have the privilege of rejecting uninsured motorist coverage when there is a policy or a certificate of a master policy, the Legislature in Ch. 84-41, \$1, Laws of Florida, deleted the following language concerning insurance policies relating to the leasing of motor vehicles for a period of one year or longer:

> In a policy wherein the lessee is a named insured or on **a** certificate of **a** master policy issued to the lessor."

> > - 10 -

In 1986, the Legislature in Ch. 86-182, §7, Laws of Florida (1986), broadened and clarified the right of a lessee of a leased vehicle for a period of one year or longer to enjoy the sole privilege to reject uninsured motorist coverage by adding the following language: "[R]egardless of whether the lessor is qualified as a self-insurer pursuant to Section 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (Fla.Supp. 1986).

At no time has the Legislature amended that part of Section 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (1983), wherein the mandatory requirement that every motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be issued or delivered providing uninsuredmotorist coverage.

Thus, the Legislative scheme reveals  $\mathbf{a}$  dichotomy within the uninsured motorist statute that makes the offering of uninsured motorist coverage mandatory where the motor vehicle is leased for  $\mathbf{a}$  period of one year or longer whether or not the lessor is  $\mathbf{a}$  self-insurer.

On the contrary, the requirements of Section 627.727, Fla. Stat. (1983), are inapplicable to **a** self-insurer that rents motor vehicles for a term of less than one year.

Thus, the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Lipof v</u>. <u>Florida Power & Light Co.</u>, 558 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), is eminently correct as to the following language:

> An individual self-insurer is not for most purposes an "insurer" under the Florida Insurance Code. (Citations omitted). Selfinsurance is not considered a "policy" of insurance, therefore, the requirements in section 627.727, Florida Statutes (1983), are inapplicable to self-insurers.

> > - 11 -

Finally, a review of the self-insurer certificate reveals that Budget has qualified under Section 324.171, Florida Statutes (1983), and by such qualifying has complied with the requirements of the Florida Financial Responsibility Law, Section 324.021(7), Florida Statutes (1983) and with personal injury protection coverage under Section 627.733(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1983). (R. 137).

There **is** simply no statutory requirement for a selfinsurer, in the automobile rental business **to** offer a renter uninsured motorist coverage, unless the lease is for a term of one year or more.

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