IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 76,800

DIVERSIFIED SERVICES, INC., a foreign corporation, d/b/a/, BUDGET RENT-A-CAR OF MIAMI, INC., a Florida Corporation, and PALM BEACH DODGE, INC. a Florida corporation,

Petitioners,

vs .

ALIDA AVILA, as personal Representative of the Estate of EULOGIO AVILA, Deceased,

Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARLOS A. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ. SUITE 201N
524 S. ANDREWS AVENUE
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL 33301
(305) 463-8016, 921-4618

CARLOS A. RODRIGUEZ

Florida Bar No. 305995

Attorney for Respondent

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>Case</u>	<u>Paqe</u>
Lumberman's Mutual Casualty Company v.,	11
Guardado v. Greyhound Rent-A-Car, Inc	12,14,15,22 24

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

I. WHETHER THE LESSOR/PETITIONER, A SELF-INSURER WHO SOLD INSURANCE COVERAGE TO THE LESSEE/DECEASED, WAS REQUIRED TO OFFER THE LESSEE/DECEASED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE UP TO THE LIMITS OF LIABILITY COVERAGE PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 627.727(1).

The Lessor/Petitioner filed their Self-Insurer Certificate, number 304, as Exhibit A attached to their Motion for Summary Final Judgement and they admit to being a self-insurer (R/A.127-Further, Lessor/Petitioner admits that they are 147)[R.3]. responsible per Florida Statute 324.021(7) Proof of Financial Responsibility, to provide liability insurance and PIP insurance [R. 11-12]. Petitioners' counsel [R. 12], the Judge [R.13] and Respondent's counsel concur that the Financial Responsibility statute in effect at the time of this accident required a minimum 10/20 liability policy. Florida Statute 324.021 (1973).In fact, the rental agreement [A.5] on its face reflects the purchase of insurance by the Lessee/Deceased by the payment of a premium and paragraph 7 on the reverse side describes the insurance as only the minimum PIP and liability. On its face, the rental agreement reflects that Lessee/Deceased paid a premium for "\$150,000.00 with medical" of "Personal Accident Ins." fact that Lessor/Petitioner sold PIP and liability insurance to the Lessee/Deceased is absolutely clear and has not been contested Petitioners ſR. 11-121. Therefore, the bv Lessor/Petitioner has transacted insurance as defined in

Florida Statute 624.10 which states:

624.10 Transacting insurance

"Transact" with respect to insurance includes any of the following, in **addition** to other applicable provisions of this code:

- (1) Solicitation or inducement.
- (2) Preliminary negotiations.
- (3) Effectuation of a contract of insurance.
- (4) Transaction of matters subsequent to effectuation of a contract of insurance and arising out of it.

Lessor/Petitioner Once has transacted insurance, Lessor/ Petitioner is subject to the provisions of the insurance code. Florida Statute **624.11** (1982). The Lessor/Petitioner solicited the Lessee/Deceased to buy insurance, entered into preliminary negotiations, and effectuated a contract of insurance within the rental agreement and hand delivered same to the Lessee/Deceased, Therefore, having transacted insurance, Lessor/Petitioner must comply with the Insurance Code or law, specifically Florida Statute 627,727(1), which mandates that "No motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be delivered unless is uninsured motor vehicle coverage provided therein or supplemental thereto...".

Historically, Florida Statute 324.021(7) Proof of Financial Responsibility (hereinafter referred to as the PFR statute), has been directly quoted in the text of the Uninsured Motorist Statute (hereinafter referred to as the UM statute), formerly Florida Statute 627.0851 (1961). Until 1973 the above UM statute said that Uninsured Motorist coverage had to be provided in every

automobile liability policy "in not less than the limits described in section 324.021(7)." In 1971 the legislature amended section 627.0851 to add "in not less than the limits described in section 324.021(7), and in an amount up to 100 percent of the liability insurance purchased by the named insured for bodily injury'' (emphasis added). The case of Lumbermen's Mutual Casualty Company, v. Beaver, 355 So.2d 441 (FLA 4DCA 1978), explains the link between the PFR and UM statute and stands for the proposition that UM coverage must be offered up to the limits of liability coverage in the applicable policy. In 1973 when the legislature passed Florida Statute 627,727, the reference to the PFR statute was deleted and the tougher language was inserted, "in an amount not less than the limits of liability insurance purchased by the insured." Subsequently, the reference to the PFR statute has disappeared and a higher standard of at least the liability limits has to be offered and rejected in writing. Florida Statute 627.727(1) and 627.727(2)(a). The historical reading of this statute is significant because it shows the legislative intent that links the Proof of Financial Responsibility and uninsured motorist statutes and indicates that the legislative intent has been to increase this mandatory UM requirement which is placed on all persons transacting liability insurance policies in the state.

Petitioners raise the PFR statute as a defense stating that there is no requirement to offer insurance **beyond** the PIP

and liability stated in the PFR statute. Yet the Uninsured Motorist statute specifically cited the PFR statute as the standard for the amount of UM coverage that was mandated. The reference was only dropped to impose a higher standard as specified in the Uninsured Motorist Statute, F.S. 627.727. The legislative intent is clear: to mandate UM coverage by linking it to the PFR statute and then by specifying an allowable greater amount in the UM statute. This court must look to the UM and PFR statutes, the legislative intent and public policy, all of which suggest Uninsured Motorist coverage in the present case.

Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgement stands or falls on the premise that they assert that a self-insurer is "a very special animal".[R.13]. Petitioners' counsel does not cite any law in the Motion for Summary Judgement to define the nature of the beast under the present facts. Based on the preceding argument the Lessor/Petitioner is transacting insurance and sold Lessee/Deceased liability insurance. The case cited by Petitioners, Guardado v. Greyhound Rent-A-Car, Inc., 340 So.2d 510 (Fla 3DCA 1976), (hereinafter referred to as Guardado) only finds that a self insurer has the right as the named insured in an excess policy to waive uninsured motorist coverage for a lessee. Petitioners seek to extend that case to also say that after they have waived the excess UM with an insurance company, they can sell liability insurance within their self-insurer limits and for some unknown reason bypass the UM statute or be found exempt from

The case of Dixie Farms Inc. v. The Hertz Corporation, 343 So.2d 633, 635-6, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), (hereinafter referred to as Hertz) holds otherwise when it states "a self-insurer is subject to all rights and obligations of an insurer under the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act, Sections 627.730-627.741 Florida Statutes (1975)." In the <u>Hertz</u> case, the selfinsurer, Hertz, was defending a Declaratory Action in the Circuit Court against a lessee. A Hertz motion to dismiss based on estoppel had been granted by the Circuit Court and lessee appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal and prevailed. Lessee sought an award of attorney's fees on appeal based on Florida Statute section 627.428 which states that an omnibus or named insured can recover attorney's fee from the "insurer" (emphasis added) after the insured obtains a judgement and prevails. The Court held that a self-insurer is not a very special animal at all because if the Hertz lessee abtained such a judgement, the self-insurer was going to have the insurer's obligation of paying attorney's fees to lessee, and the self insurer would be subject to " all the rights and obligations of an insurer". Hertz at 635,636. The legislature has stated that a self-insurer "shall have all of the obligations and rights insurer under ss. 627.730-627.7405." Florida Statute of section 627.733 (3)(b) (1982). The interesting thing about the Hertz case is that it awards attorney's fees under Florida Statute section 627.428, which is not part of the text of the

cited sections of Florida Statutes, 627.730-627.7405. Therefore, <u>Hertz</u> can be cited for the self-insurer literally having all the rights and obligations of an insurer, outside of sections 627.730-627.7405, including the obligation to pay attorney's fees and the obligation to provide UM coverage under the terms of Florida Statute 627.727.

The Guardado case merely recognizes that a self-insurer stands in the shoes of a named insured when dealing with an excess carrier for coverage above and beyond the self insurer limits. As such, the self insurer receives the recognized right a named insured to reject UM coverage in writing, gee, Mattingly v.Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 363 So.2d 147 (Fla.4DCA 1978); Morpurgo v. Greyhound Rent-A-Car, Inc., 339 So.2d 718 (Fla.1DCA 1976); Kohly v. Royal Indemnity Co., 190 So.2d 819 (Fla.3DCA 1966), cert. den. 200 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1967). The <u>Guardado</u> case and the cases cited do not say that a self insurer is therefore excused of all the rights and obligations of The issue of whether a an insurer contrary to the Hertz case. self insurer transacting insurance with a lessee, apart from a separate insurance company, is subject to the obligation of the UM statute has not been addressed by any Florida Court. opinion below, The Third District Court rejected Petitioners' argument that a self-insurer does not have the obligations of an insurer and refused to expand Guardado.

The public policy considerations favor Respondent's position and favor this Court adhering to the Hertz decisian and limiting

the <u>Guardado</u> decision. Referring to the denial of UM coverage in a rental situation, the <u>Guardado</u> case itself at page 512 states:

Appellant's attempt to distinguish <u>Kohly</u>, supra, fram the instant case, on the sole ground of appellee's status as a self-insured is a good effort to circumvent what is admittedly a sore spot in the law.

The <u>Hertz</u> approach solves this "sore spot" of no UM coverage as far as self-insurers. Interestingly, the <u>Hertz</u> decision came after the <u>Guardado</u> case and its holding of self-insurer rights and obligations was therefore not considered in <u>Guardada</u> but should be considered now. The public policy explained by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) and explained further in <u>Auto-Owners Insurance Company v. Bennet</u>, 466 So.2d 242 (Fla.2DCA 1984), further support the <u>Hertz</u> approach. In <u>Mullis</u>, at pages 232-233, the Court stated:

Uninsured motorist coverage ... is intended ... to protect the described insureds... who are legally entitled to recover damages... from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury and is not to be "whittled away" by exclusion or exceptions.

The Court took the approach that since UM coverage was required for all persons insured under policies providing basic liability coverage, once these conditions were met, then exclusions were not legally permissible. Auto-Owners at 243. In Auto-Owners, the named insured's son was excluded from UM coverage by the policy language in the UM portion of the policy because he owned his own automobile. The Court held that the UM coverage exclusion was invalid because the insurance policy extended basic liability

per the <u>Mullis</u> case the insurance policy had to provide UM coverage to the son. <u>Auto-Owners</u> at 244. If we accept the holding in <u>Hertz</u> that a self-insurer has all the obligations of an insurer and include the obligation of providing UM coverage, and we accept that the rental agreement transacts insurance because included in its terms is a policy of liability insurance, then the Petitioners' attempt to exclude UM coverage must fail.

A similar case to ours pending before this Court, Lipof v. Florida Power & Light Co., 558 So.2d 1067 (Fla,4th DCA 1990), addresses the issue of whether an employer self-insured who offers liability coverage as part of an employee benefits package to his employee must also offer Uninsured Motorist coverage: Fourth District said no. Lipof dealt with insurance and a selfinsured but is somewhat different due to the employee-employer on going contractual relationship, the employer's desire to have employee use his personal vehicle for work and the fact that in our case there was an insurance transaction where Deceased/Lessee paid money to Lessor/Petitioner for insurance coverage, including liability coverage, in an arms length transaction. Also, the terms of the agreement in Lipof were not ambiguous. Our case and Lipof, allow this Court to deal with all aspects of the selfinsurer rights and obligations for UM coverage and this Court should adhere to the Hertz decision and the Third District's decision in our case in treating the Petitioner as an Insurer.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

II. WHETHER THE CONTRACT DRAFTED BY LESSOR/PETITIONER FOR THE RENTAL AND THE INSURANCE COVERAGE WAS AMBIGUOUS AS TO THE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FOR LESSEE/DECEASED, CREATING A JURY OUESTION AND FACTUAL ISSUE AND DEFEATING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

A careful reading of the rental agreement[A.5] indicates that the insurance provisions on the front and on the back of the agreement are in conflict. The entire paragraph 7 on the back of the rental agreement seems to describe the minimum benefits that Lessor/Petitioner is required to provide under the applicable For example, Budget agrees to provide "personal injury protection benefits with the maximum deductible allowed by law" and "liability insurance coverage with limits of liability equal to the minimum limits required by the financial responsibility law of the state." It is this same paragraph which states that "The insurance coverage referred to in this paragraph 7 (emphasis added) does not apply: a) To damages caused to any person, including Renter and driver by an uninsured motorist or uninsured vehicle" (emphasis added). After restricting its obligation to the bare minimum, the paragraph ends by stating that " This paragraph 7 constitutes the entire agreement between Budget and the Renter and driver regarding the terms conditions of the insurance provided by Budget to the Renter and driver and no alteration thereof shall be valid unless agreed to by Budget, in writing (emphasis added). So, reading paragraph 7,

Budget at the time of this accident would have agreed to provide \$10,000.00 PIP benefits with an \$8,000.00deductible and liability insurance of \$10,000.00/\$20,000.00 with no UM coverage: the bare minimum per their definition in paragraph 7.[R.12]. conflict in the terms of the rental agreement is real because the front of this agreement states "Personal Accident Ins. \$150,000.00 with Medical By this acceptance renter purchases accident insurance as described in the certificate of insurance (available on request) and agrees to pay therefore a premium as shown in the adjoining column." Lessee/Deceased paid this premium, so either Budget defrauded him by inserting paragraph 7 in the small print on the back of this agreement, limiting the insurance to much less than \$150,000, or as paragraph 7 says, Budget agreed to an alteration of the terms of insurance coverage in writing because Lessee/Deceased paid a premium! The written agreement altering the terms is the short statement about "Personal Accident Ins." which is so ambiguous that it could be excess PIP, liability, or uninsured motorist coverage: "the policy itself is ambiguous"[R. 8] and "has there been any uninsured motorist coverage offered?"[R, 15] It is clear that the "Personal Accident Ins." increases the limits described in paragraph 7 and adds medical coverage. Personal accident insurance by its definition implies insurance for the person not the car which reasonably includes UM coverage.

The ambiguity as to whether Personal Accident Ins includes uninsured motorist coverage must be interpreted in favor of Lessee/Deceased and against Petitioners because they drafted the contract, the rental agreement. American Agronomics See, Corporation v. Ross, 309 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 3DCA 1975), cert. denied 321 So.2d 558 (Fla.1975). In MacKenzie v. Avis Rent-A-Car **369** So.2d 647 (Fla.3DCA 1979), the Court Systems, Inc., interpreted an ambiguity in a rental agreement in favor of the lessee and ruled that Lessor's Motion for Summary Judgement should have been denied because there was a factual issue as to whether the rental agreement provided for UM coverage, Avis had agreed to provide coverage for the lessee in accordance with "the standard provisions of an automobile policy" and the issue was whether the standard provisions included UM. MacKenzie at 648. The Court stressed that there was a specific provision (emphasis agreement that created the factual added) in the rental ambiguity-Id. at 649. Our case is identical because there is a specific provision which expands the limited coverage afforded on the back of the agreement in paragraph 7. In support, the Court cites the case of Riccio v. Allstate Ins. Co. 357 So. 2d 420 (Fla.3d DCA 1978), wherein the insurance company's phrase of providing "full coverage" created an ambiguity as to whether there was UM coverage and precluded summary judgement. Id. Like in our case, in MacKenzie the lessor did not submit affidavits in the Circuit Court that explain the factual issue by providing a

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